STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAR 21 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Pickens County

Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MARCUS CHANNING JOHNSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-000293

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in sentencing Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole because such a sentence was excessive and disproportionate in violation of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, section 15 of the South Carolina Constitution in light of Appellant's intellectual functioning as revealed through neuropsychological data, his level of culpability, and the statistical data illuminating the life expectancy of individuals in the Department of Corrections?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 15, 2014, a Pickens County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2014-GS-39-0735) and criminal conspiracy (2014-GS-39-736). R. 98-99; R. 102-103. On February 10, 2017, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Eugene Griffith to enter guilty pleas to the charged offenses. R. 1. Walt Wilkins and Betty Strom represented the state. R. 1. Bill McGuire and John DeJong represented Appellant. R. 1. The state requested a sentence of life without the possibility of parole (LWOP). R. 8, l. 25 – R. 9, l. 3; R. 17, ll. 17-19; R. 45, ll. 6-24. Plea counsel requested “the minimum sentence.” R. 42, l. 6. Plea counsel objected to any sentence exceeding the statutory minimum based upon Appellant’s intellectual disability, level of culpability, neuropsychological data, and the statistics from the Department of Corrections. R. 42, l. 17 – R. 43, l. 2. Plea counsel also set forth his objections in a sentencing memorandum. R. 50-97.

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Griffith sentenced Appellant to LWOP for murder, five years’ imprisonment for the weapon, and five years’ imprisonment for conspiracy. R. 46, l. 25 – R. 47, ll. 5; R. 100-101; R. 104. He ordered all sentences to be served concurrently. R. 47, ll. 6-9; R. 100-101; R. 104. Immediately following the sentence, defense counsel re-iterated his objection to a sentence of LWOP. R. 47, ll. 10-17.

On February 15, 2017, Appellant served his notice of appeal. Pursuant to Rule 203(d)(B)(iv), Appellant explained the basis of his appeal was his objection to a sentence exceeding the mandatory minimum sentence of thirty years based upon the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 15 of the South Carolina Constitution. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in sentencing Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole because such a sentence was excessive and disproportionate in violation of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, section 15 of the South Carolina Constitution in light of Appellant's intellectual functioning as revealed through neuropsychological data, his level of culpability, and the statistical data illuminating the life expectancy of individuals in the Department of Corrections.

Relevant facts

When Appellant was in junior high school, he had already repeated the first and second grades. R. 50-97. His academic performance was poor during his three years in junior high, culminating with him being "placed" into tenth grade at the local high school. R. 50-97. His education ended during the tenth grade with him receiving all failing grades. R. 50-97. Appellant met Crystal Williams in junior high school, and reconnected within two or three years of the death of Williams' husband. R. 10, ll. 14-17; R. 13, ll. 1-5.

Although Appellant maintained employment, he had difficulty managing money. R. 50-97. Appellant struggled to hold on to his wallet and important documents, leading his mother to safeguard his paperwork and providing him with only copies. R. 50-97. Even while working, Appellant relied on the kindness of others to assist him with his job responsibilities. R. 50-97. Appellant's friends described him as vulnerable and willing to do anything to get affection. R. 40, ll. 17-18; R. 42, ll. 1-3; R. 50-97. People often took advantage of Appellant. R. 50-97.

According to the state, Appellant conspired with Williams, his school friend, to kill Williams' husband for insurance proceeds. R. 10, ll. 9-25; R. 13, ll. 10-13. Ultimately, Williams told police that after her husband went to bed, she allowed Appellant into the house. R. 11, ll. 5-

19. Williams then woke her husband and used a ruse to get him to go into the living room. R. 12, ll. 1-3. Williams claimed she heard gunshots, and went into the living room after her husband. R. 12, ll. 4-8. She then called 911 to report her husband had been shot. R. 12, ll. 8-10. Her husband had been “shot at five times,” but hit only three times. R. 15, ll. 22-24.

Eventually, Williams confessed to the police and implicated Appellant. R. 12, ll. 11-13. When the police arrested Appellant, he admitted his involvement. R. 12, ll. 22-25. Shortly after their arrest, it was apparent that Williams used Appellant’s naïveté to her advantage concerning the death of her husband. R. 31, l. 19 – R. 32; l. 3; R. 50-97. While in jail, she described Appellant as a “stupid nigger,” and commented that he was going to jail for something she did. R. 32, ll. 4-13; R. 50-97.

Unsurprisingly, neuropsychological testing revealed Appellant suffered severe cognitive deficits. R. 50-97. His IQ, without any consideration of the Flynn effect or the standard error of measurement, was 75. R. 50-97. Based on the limited testing conducted, he was preliminarily placed in the “Borderline range of intellectual functioning.” R. 50-97. He suffered deficits “in the areas of verbal memory, visual memory, speed of mental tracking, motor speed, manual dexterity, trail making and visuospatial functioning.” R. 50-97. According to the neuropsychologist who evaluated Appellant, he likely had “brain organicity” and deficits in his ability “to fully process and comprehend more complex materials and issues.” R. 50-97.

During the guilty plea hearing, the state repeatedly requested the maximum sentence – life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. R. 8, l. 25; R. 17, ll. 17-19; R. 45, ll. 6-24. Plea counsel requested “the minimum sentence.” R. 42, l. 6. Counsel noted that even if Appellant, who was thirty-eight years old at the time of sentencing, were sentenced to fifteen years’ imprisonment, which was half of the mandatory minimum, there was “fifty-fifty

proposition that that [would be] a life sentence.” R. 42, ll. 9-13. As demonstrated by the life expectancy data provided by the Department of Corrections, the average age of death for an African-American male was 52.4 years old in 2009, 48.56 years old in 2010, and 51.06 years old in 2011. R. 50-97. Appellant could expect to live another ten to fourteen years behind bars. R. 50-97. Further, in objecting to the imposition of a life sentence, plea counsel explained any sentence exceeding the statutory minimum was unconstitutional in light of Appellant’s intellectual functioning, level of culpability, and the life expectancy information from the prison. R. 42, l. 17.– R. 43, l. 2; R. 47, ll. 10-20.

Nevertheless, with no explanation, Judge Griffith sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment. R. 47, ll. 1-9; R. 100-101; R. 104.

Discussion

“The Eighth Amendment succinctly prohibits ‘[e]xcessive’ sanctions. It provides: ‘Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.’” Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 311 (2002). “The basic concept underlying the Eighth Amendment is nothing less than the dignity of man.” Trop v. Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 100 (1958). “The Eighth Amendment’s protection of dignity reflects the Nation we have been, the Nation we are, and the Nation we aspire to be.” Hall v. Florida, 134 S.Ct. 1986, 1992 (2014). South Carolina’s Constitution likewise proscribes excessive punishments and cruel or unusual punishments: “Excessive bail shall not be required; nor shall excessive fines be imposed; nor shall cruel, nor corporal, nor unusual punishment be inflicted.” S.C. Const. Art. I, § 15. Traditionally, the South Carolina Supreme Court has employed the same analysis for both constitutions. State v. Wilson, 306 S.C. 498, 512, 413 S.E.2d 19, 27 (1992).

Without question, “[t]he Eighth Amendment prohibits punishment considered ‘Cruel and Unusual’ at the time the Bill of Rights was adopted.” *Id.* at 509, 413 S.E.2d at 25 (citing Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277 (1983)). However, “[t]he Eighth Amendment analysis does not stop with the examination of the intent of the framers of the Constitution.” *Id.* at 509, 413 S.E.2d at 26. “To determine whether a punishment is cruel and unusual, courts must look beyond historical conceptions to ‘the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society.’” Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 58 (2010)(quoting Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 102 (1976)). “Embodied in the Constitution’s ban on cruel and unusual punishment is the ‘precept of justice that punishment for the crime should be graduated and proportioned to [the] offense.’” *Id.* at 59 (quoting Weems v. United States, 217 U.S. 349, 367 (1910)). When “considering the constitutionality of a punishment in the abstract,” the court is “guided by two principles,” “[f]irst, the historical principle that the cruel and unusual punishment clause is designed to prevent inhuman and barbarous treatment,” and “[s]econd, that the sentence must not be grossly out of proportion with the severity of the crime.” Stockton v. Leeke, 269 S.C. 459, 462, 237 S.E.2d 896, 897 (1977).

“The United States Supreme Court first recognized a constitutional principle of proportionality in Weems v. United States, 217 U.S. 349 (1910).” State v. Harrison, 402 S.C. 288, 293, 741 S.E.2d 727, 729 (2013). A sentence must be “graduated and proportioned to [the] offense.” *Id.* “First, courts look to the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the penalty. Second, it may be helpful to compare the sentence to sentences imposed on other criminals in the same jurisdiction. ... Third, courts may also compare sentences imposed for the commission of the same crime in other jurisdictions.” *Id.* at 294-295, 741 S.E.2d at 730 (internal citations omitted).

Grossly Disproportionate Sentences

Over the years, the cases addressing the proportionality of sentences have developed along two general lines. The first is concerned with the particular circumstances of the case and whether the defendant's sentence for a term of years is grossly disproportionate given the particular offense. Graham, 560 U.S. at 59; Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 1005 (1991). “[A] sentence, though not cruel and unusual in kind, may be so severe in duration as to be cruel and unusual.” Stockton, 269 S.C. at 462, 237 S.E.2d at 897. “[E]ven when a particular sentence is authorized by statute, ‘it may run afoul of the Eighth Amendment prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment.’” State v. Brannon, 341 S.C. 271, 278, 533 S.E.2d 345, 348-349 (Ct. App. 2000)(quoting Solem, 463 U.S. at 290). “[I]n analyzing proportionality under the Eighth Amendment outside the capital context, South Carolina courts shall first determine whether a comparison between the sentence and the crime committed gives rise to an inference of gross disproportionality.” Harrison, 402 S.C. at 299-300, 741 S.E.2d at 733. “If no such inference is present, the analysis ends.” Id. at 300, 741 S.E.2d at 733. When the inference is present, “intra-jurisdictional and inter-jurisdictional analysis is appropriate.” Id.

Categorical Bans

The second classification of cases is concerned with categorical rules as applied to groups of offenses or groups of offenders. Graham, 560 U.S. at 60-61. The “modern philosophy of penology [is] that the punishment should fit the offender and not merely the crime.” Williams v. People of State of N.Y., 337 U.S. 241, 247 (1949). For example, the United States Supreme Court categorically ruled the Eighth Amendment prohibits the imposition of the death penalty for non-homicide crimes against individuals, Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407 (2008), and prohibited the death penalty for defendants who committed their crimes before the age of eighteen, Roper v.

Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005). In Atkins, the Court explained it had held “that death [was] an impermissibly excessive punishment for the rape of an adult woman,” “or for a defendant who neither took life, attempted to take life, nor intended to take life.” Atkins, 536 U.S. at 312 (internal citations omitted).

When adopting categorical proportionality rules, the Court first considers “objective indicia of society’s standards, as expressed in legislative enactments and state practice” to determine whether there is a national consensus against the sentencing practice at issue. Graham, at 61 (quoting Roper, 543 U.S. at 572); see also Wilson, 306 S.C. at 509, 413 S.E.2d at 26. Generally, the Court has relied on social science data and statistics to discern “society’s evolving standards of decency.” Roper, 543 U.S. at 560-77. “[G]uided by ‘the standards elaborated by controlling precedents and by the Court’s own understanding and interpretation of the Eighth Amendment’s text, history, meaning, and purpose,’” the Court, in the exercise of its own independent judgment, then determines whether the punishment in question violates the Eighth Amendment to the Constitution. Graham, 560 U.S. at 61 (quoting Kennedy, 554 U.S. at 421).

In Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782, 798 (1982), the United States Supreme Court held the Eighth Amendment prohibited treating individuals the same when their culpability was not the same. At most, the state’s case against Enmund supported an inference that Enmund was the person in the car at the side of the road at the time of the killings, waiting to help the robbers escape. Id. at 788. There was no evidence that Enmund took life, attempted to take life, or intended to take life. Id. The Court concluded society had rejected the death penalty for accomplice liability in felony murders based upon (1) state laws prohibiting the practice or permitting minimal participation to be a mitigating circumstance and (2) sentencing decisions by juries repudiating imposition of the death penalty for accomplices. Id. at 789-796. In arriving at its conclusion, the Court explained the

question of the disproportionality of the sentence required “[t]he focus” to be on Enmund’s culpability. *Id.* at 798.

Examining the deterrence goal of sentencing schemes, the Court determined the threat of capital punishment for murder would not deter “one who does not kill and has no intention or purpose that life will be taken.” *Id.* at 798-799. Regarding the goal of retribution through sentencing, the Court explained “this very much depends on the degree of Enmund’s culpability – what Enmund’s intentions, expectations, and actions were.” *Id.* at 800. “American criminal law has long considered a defendant’s intention – and therefore his moral guilty – to be critical to ‘the degree of [his] criminal culpability.’” *Id.* (quoting *Mullaney v. Wilbur*, 421 U.S. 684, 698 (1975)). An individual’s “punishment must be tailored to his personal responsibility and moral guilt.” *Id.* at 801.

In *Atkins*, the Court surveyed the state legislative actions related to executing intellectually disabled individuals. *Atkins*, 536 U.S. at 313. After reviewing the legislatures that had banned the practice or had contemplated such a ban, the Court concluded that it was “not so much the number of these states that is significant, but the consistency of the direction of change.” *Id.* at 315. The Court found the “number of states prohibiting the execution of mentally retarded persons” though small was “powerful evidence that today our society views mentally retarded offenders as categorically less culpable than the average criminal.” *Id.* at 315-316. Examining the number of individuals with intellectual disability executed in states where the practice was permissible, the Court concluded “the practice” of executing intellectually disabled people had “become truly unusual” and that it was “fair to say that a national consensus ha[d] developed against it.” *Id.* at 316.

Individuals with intellectual disability “by definition” “have diminished capacities to understand and process information, to communicate, to abstract from mistakes and learn from experience, to engage in logical reasoning, to control impulses, and to understand the reactions of others.” Id. at 318. “Abundant evidence” shows the intellectually disabled “often act on impulse rather than pursuant to a premeditated plan, and that in group settings they are followers rather than leaders.” Id. “Their deficiencies do not warrant an exemption from criminal sanctions, but they do diminish their personal culpability.” Id.

After identifying retribution and deterrence as the “social purposes served by the death penalty,” the Court examined whether executing intellectually disabled people served those purposes. Id. at 318-319. Concerning retribution, the Court concluded that “[i]f the culpability of the average murderer is insufficient to justify the most extreme sanction available to the state, the lesser culpability of the mentally retarded offender surely does not merit that form of retribution.” Id. at 319.

Turning to deterrence, the Court explained “[e]xempting the mentally retarded from the punishment will not affect the cold calculus that precedes the decision of other potential murderers” because “that sort of calculus is at the opposite end of the spectrum from behavior of mentally retarded offenders.” Id. at 319-320 (internal quotation omitted). Thus, a categorical bar on executing the intellectually disabled was appropriate. Id. at 319.

“The reduced capacity of mentally retarded offenders provide[d] a second justification for a categorical rule making such offenders ineligible for the death penalty.” Id. at 320. With the intellectually disabled there was an enhanced risk of false confessions, a lesser ability to a persuasive showing of mitigation, a lesser ability to give meaningful assistance to counsel, a decreased ability to be a good witness, and a risk “their demeanor may create an unwarranted

impression of lack of remorse for their crimes.” Id. at 320-321. Ultimately, the Court concluded that executing the intellectually disabled was “excessive” and in violation of the Eighth Amendment. Id. at 321.

In Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), the Court held death sentences for juveniles were cruel and unusual punishment. In Roper, the Supreme Court established a categorical ban on the death penalty for juveniles relying in large part on social science research indicating that youths have a lessened culpability and are less deserving of the most severe punishments. 543 U.S. at 569-75. Juvenile offenders are fundamentally different from adults for purposes of sentencing for three reasons: (1) they are immature and have “an underdeveloped sense of responsibility;” (2) they “are more vulnerable or susceptible to negative influences and outside pressures, including peer pressure;” and (3) their characters are “not as well formed” as adults. Id. at 569-70 (internal citations omitted). “It is difficult even for expert psychologists to differentiate between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” Id. at 573. Therefore, “juvenile offenders cannot with reliability be classified among the worst offenders.” Id.

A few years after Roper, the Court held that a LWOP sentence imposed upon a juvenile for a non-homicide offense violated the Eighth Amendment’s ban on cruel and unusual punishment. Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010). The Supreme Court held that “for a juvenile offender who did not commit homicide the Eighth Amendment forbids the sentence of life without parole.” Id. at 74. Just as the Court did in Roper, the Graham Court, relied upon developments in social science demonstrating the fundamental differences between juveniles and adults:

[D]evelopments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds. For example, parts of the brain involved in behavior control continue to mature through late adolescence. Juveniles are more capable of change than are adults, and their actions are less likely to be

evidence of irretrievably depraved character than are the actions of adults. It remains true that from a moral standpoint it would be misguided to equate the failings of a minor with those of an adult, for a greater possibility exists that a minor's character deficiencies will be reformed.

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