STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Pickens County  
Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

MAR 21 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MARCUS CHANNING JOHNSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-000293

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SHERRIE BUTTERBAUGH  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 101477  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

W. WALTER WILKINS, III  
Solicitor, Thirtieth Judicial Circuit  
305 E. North Street, Ste. 325

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 10, 2017, appellant pled guilty to murder, conspiracy, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R.p.25, lines 3-12; pp.98-104). Bill McGuire and John DeJong represented appellant. (R.p.1). Solicitor Walt Wilkins and Betty Strom represented the State. (R.p.1). The State served appellant with a notice of intent to seek the death penalty. (R.p.8, lines 20-24; p.18, lines 2-7). However, through negotiations with counsel, it was agreed appellant would plead guilty as indicted and leave sentencing in the trial court's discretion. (R.p.18, lines 8-23).

The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith sentenced appellant to life imprisonment for murder, and concurrent terms of five years each for conspiracy and the weapons charge. (R.p.46, line 25-p.47, line 9).

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

The plea judge properly sentenced appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole after appellant voluntarily chose to plead guilty to remove the possibility of the death penalty, and the judge exercised his discretion in sentencing after consideration of all information provided at the plea hearing to decide the appropriate sentence for appellant within the statutory range for murder.

Appellant's sentence of life without the possibility of parole is not excessive and disproportionate and does not violate the Eighth Amendment because it was properly determined after the plea judge considered all the relevant information presented to him at the plea hearing. The judge was within his discretion to sentence appellant to life after both defense counsel and appellant conceded they understood the only agreement between the parties was to remove the possibility of a death sentence, and appellant voluntarily chose to plead guilty to avoid the risk of trial.

The record reveals the plea judge took into account all the information available to him, including a sentencing memorandum prepared by the defense which included results of testing which appellant argues demonstrates a diminished level of culpability. This is so even though the results of the neuropsychological testing have never been litigated and no court has ever made a finding of intellectual disability, a point acknowledged by defense counsel during the plea hearing.

Accordingly, appellant's sentence of life without parole is not disproportionate under the Eighth Amendment, the plea judge did not err in making his determination, and the sentence should be affirmed.

### Guilty Plea Hearing

Appellant pled guilty to the indicted charges of murder, possession of a weapon during

the commission of a violent crime, and conspiracy on February 10, 2017, before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith. (R.p.1; p.25, lines 3-12; pp.98-104). Judge Griffith explained the rights appellant was giving up by pleading guilty, asked appellant repeatedly if he understood, and appellant indicated he did. (R.p.5, line 23-p.7, line 19). The judge also noted appellant had two "very competent attorneys" advising him and discussing possible defenses and evidence with him, and asked appellant again if he was waiving his right to a trial "freely and voluntarily," to which appellant responded, "Yes, sir." (R.p.7, line 20-p.8, line 13).

The State told the plea judge briefly the facts of the case. Crystal Williams (Williams) called 911 at about 3:45 a.m. on January 26, 2014, claiming someone shot her husband, Shane, the victim. (R.p.9, lines 12-18). The couple's ten-year-old son was also in the home in Pickens County, heard gunshots, ran out of his bedroom, and saw his father lying on the floor. (R.p.9, lines 19-21). The investigation subsequently revealed Williams planned the murder with appellant, communicating using a messaging app.<sup>1</sup> (R.p.9, line 22-p.10, line 13).

Williams gave a statement and admitted to the plan, and told investigators she and appellant agreed to split the proceeds from an insurance policy. (R.p.10, lines 18-25). The two co-defendants were classmates in junior high and reconnected two to three years before the murder. (R.p.10, lines 14-17). Williams stated appellant sent her pictures of guns, including the one he would use to shoot her husband. (R.p.11, lines 1-4). On the night of the murder, Williams's son and husband each went to bed after watching television while she messaged appellant to come over. (R.p.11, lines 5-17). Appellant arrived wearing all black and gloves, and Williams let him inside the home. (R.p.11, lines 18-20). When Williams told appellant her son was in the house and she was scared, Williams told investigators appellant responded, "God

---

<sup>1</sup> The co-defendants used the "Kik" app which allows users to register without providing a phone number and to delete communications after viewing, preserving anonymity. (R.p.10, lines 2-6).

damn, come on man. Let's go." (R.p.11, lines 20-25). Williams stated appellant told her to wake the victim up and she did, telling him the wood burning stove needed more firewood, and he left the bedroom and Williams heard gunshots, her husband yell "no," and Williams heard one more shot. (R.p.11, line 25-p.12, line 7).

Investigators obtained a search warrant for appellant's home and found a gun hidden under a mattress, and a box of ammunition later determined to be consistent with that used in the shooting. (R.p.12, lines 11-21). After being advised of his rights, appellant also gave a statement to investigators in which he admitted he was involved in the murder. (R.p.12, line 22-p.13, line 5). Appellant stated he and Williams started planning the crime in October 2013, agreeing they would split the money from the insurance policy. (R.p.13, lines 6-16). On the morning of the murder, Williams messaged appellant, "Let's go ahead and do it, hurry up and let's go." (R.p.13, lines 21-24). Consistent with Williams's statement, appellant told investigators the two arranged for Williams to let him in her house, she would wake her husband up and send him out, and appellant would shoot him. (R.p.13, line 25-p.14, line 9). Appellant admitted "he emptied the gun as he was walking toward the door of [Williams's] house." (R.p.14, lines 9-11).

At trial, the State was prepared to present evidence of appellant's written statement, as well as that of Williams. Further, investigators had evidence appellant contacted a friend multiple times over Facebook about purchasing a gun and silencer, and could connect physical evidence found at appellant's home to the shooting. (R.p.12, lines 11-21; p.14, line 16-p.15, line 21). In addition, the State would present the autopsy report which revealed appellant shot the victim three times. (R.p.15, line 22-p.16, line 7). Other evidence that would have been presented included the messages recovered from the "Kik" app which detailed the plan between

appellant and Williams. (R.p.10, lines 6-8).

Following the State's recitation, the plea judge asked appellant if the facts were accurate and appellant replied, "Yes, sir." (R.p.17, line 21-p.18, line 1).

The plea judge also made sure appellant understood the sentencing possibilities. The case was originally noticed as a death penalty potential trial. (R.p.8, lines 20-24; p.18, lines 2-7). However, through negotiations, it was agreed appellant would plead guilty and leave sentencing in the judge's discretion—with the understanding the sentence could be anywhere in the statutory range of thirty years to life. (R.p.18, lines 8-18). Defense counsel acknowledged it was "a straight up plea" and there were no negotiations "other than taking the death penalty off the table." (R.p.18, lines 19-23). Appellant agreed he did not receive the promise of any particular sentence:

THE COURT: [Appellant], the same question to you. Were you promised anything else other than not facing a jury and a potential death penalty to get you to plead guilty?

[APPELLANT]: No, sir.

THE COURT: Have you been threatened or coerced by anyone to get you to plead guilty?

[APPELLANT]: No, sir.

(R.p.18, line 24-p.19, line 7). The judge then noted for appellant the consequences of the guilty plea, before asking appellant:

THE COURT: Are you pleading guilty to these three offenses – murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and conspiracy – today freely and voluntarily?

[APPELLANT]: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Are you pleading guilty on those three offenses because you are in fact guilty of committing them?

[APPELLANT]: Yes, sir.

(R.p.19, line 8-p.20, line 18; p.25, lines 3-12). The judge found the plea was freely, intelligently, and knowingly entered. (R.p.26, line 17-p.27, line 11).

Prior to sentencing, the victim's father spoke briefly about the impact losing his son had on his family, telling the plea judge his son was taken by "a selfish act of greed" and his loss left a void "that will never be filled." (R.pp.28, line 12-p.29, line 2).

Next, several people spoke on appellant's behalf, in an effort to give the judge a better understanding of appellant's social history and personality. Defense counsel first noted he had a sentencing memorandum to make an exhibit which contained the basis for appellant's argument for the minimum statutory sentence of thirty years. (R.p.29, lines 8-11; p.42, lines 4-16).

Counsel then told the plea judge everyone they interviewed had only good things to say about appellant, he was well-liked and trusted, and the murder was out of character for him. (R.p.29, line 24-p.30, line 13). Counsel read a brief statement from appellant's mother, then stated those who were there to speak in mitigation would present a profile of a man who scored low on neuropsychological testing, wanted to be liked and could be easily misled, and his co-defendant lied to and took advantage of him. (R.p.30, line 14-p.32, line 16).

Appellant's brother spoke first, stating the person who committed murder was not the individual he grew up with. (R.p.33, lines 3-10). Kermit Johnson (Kermit) admitted appellant made "some not-so-great choices" in life, but stated appellant was always willing "to help those around him" and had a "knack for fixing things," especially vehicles. (R.p.33, line 11-p.35, line 4). Appellant did not do well in school and his brother thought he dropped out in the tenth grade, and Kermit tried to encourage him to return by taking him to college with him occasionally. (R.p.35, lines 5-18).

Appellant's sister-in-law told the plea judge she had always known appellant to be "a kind, caring, hard-working, and fun guy." (R.p.38, lines 5-12). Hope Johnson (Hope) believed "things went downhill" for appellant after he was shot in the leg and it became overwhelming for him to keep up with his affairs, and he was not able to work as much. (R.p.39, line 11-p.40, line 12).

A former employer told the plea judge appellant was always a good employee, there when he needed him, and dependable. (R.p.40, line 20-p.41, line 13). Appellant's ex-girlfriend and mother of his eight-year-old son also spoke. (R.p.36, lines 20-23; p.37, lines 6-10). Ashley Ramey (Ramey) stated appellant was a "truly great person" who made a mistake, and she asked the judge to "have some mercy" and give appellant "a sentence of something other than life." (R.p.37, line 21-p.38, line 1).

Finally, appellant spoke. He expressed remorse for the murder, and apologized to the victim's family. (R.p.43, lines 5-8).

Defense counsel emphasized again "everybody is at a complete loss as to how somebody could convince this man to do this." (R.p.41, lines 19-21). Counsel told the plea judge the school records and neuropsychological testing, along with the statements about appellant's character, made by those who knew him, provided a starting point to better understand "how he could be duped, be gullible." (R.p.41, line 21-p.42, line 3). Counsel asked for the minimum sentence and asserted, upon consultation with appellate attorneys at South Carolina Commission of Indigent Defense, he had a duty and obligation to object to any sentence exceeding the minimum "based on a very strong [intellectual disability] claim,<sup>2</sup> [appellant's] level of

---

<sup>2</sup> Respondent notes there has never been a finding that appellant is intellectually disabled as no such claim has ever been litigated.

culpability, the neuropsychological data, and statistics from the Department of Corrections" regarding life expectancy of inmates. (R.p.42, line 4-p.43, line 2).

Defense counsel relied on information contained in the sentencing memorandum to make his objection. It appears from school records attached to the memorandum appellant repeated first and third grades, and left school in the tenth grade. (R.pp.69-74). Neuropsychological testing completed by Tora Brawley, Ph.D., indicated appellant self-reported he was an average student who was in regular classes, not special education or self-contained classes. (R.p.54; pp.87-89). Appellant received a full scale IQ score of 75 on the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-IV (WAIS-IV) test, preliminarily placing him in the borderline range of intellectual functioning. (R.p.54; pp.88-89). Further, some of appellant's reported cognitive issues began in 2012 after he was shot in the leg and fell from his truck, well after the developmental age of eighteen.<sup>3</sup> (R.p.89). The memorandum also contained statistics obtained from the South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC), and indicated the average age of death by natural causes of male inmates in correctional institutions. (R.p.55; pp.93-97). In addition, the document contained a social history obtained through interviews conducted by the defense which defense counsel maintained lessened appellant's level of culpability.<sup>4</sup> (R.pp.56-62).

---

<sup>3</sup> South Carolina law defines an intellectual disability as "significantly sub-average general intellectual functioning existing concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior and manifested during the developmental period," which is before the age of eighteen. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-20-30.

<sup>4</sup> Respondent notes the majority of the social history is hearsay and affidavits of those interviewed were not attached to the memorandum or otherwise presented to the plea judge, nor did all of them speak at sentencing. However, as discussed below, the judge noted he considered the document prior to determining appellant's sentence. (R.p.46, lines 11-17); *see also State v. Gullede*, 326 S.C. 220, 220, 487 S.E.2d 590, 594 (1997) (citing *United States v. Silverman*, 976 F.2d 1502, 1509 (6th Cir. 1992)) (explaining the admissibility of evidence at sentencing is limited by constitutional provisions which require the evidence be relevant and reliable, but hearsay evidence which is inadmissible at trial may be considered at sentencing).

The State noted for the plea judge the plea negotiations with appellant and defense counsel were not the result of the evidence contained in the sentencing memorandum. (R.p.43, lines 12-19). The State maintained it was not conceding to any assessment that indicated appellant was intellectually disabled. (R.p.43, line 20-p.44, line 6). Defense counsel agreed, stating the memorandum "provided sort of the underpinning of an [intellectual disability] claim," but because the parties reached a plea agreement, the issue had not been fully litigated. (R.p.44, lines 7-16).

The State briefly gave appellant's criminal history, which included pleas to assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature and two counts of assault and battery, and reiterated its request for a life sentence. (R.p.17, lines 15-19; p.44, line 23-p.45, line 7). The State asked the plea judge to consider several factors when determining appellant's sentence, including: (1) evidence of appellant's malice, such as his continuous attempts over two months to contact a friend about buying a gun; (2) appellant was instrumental in carrying out the murder as the person who shot the victim; (3) ambushing the victim as he came out of his bedroom; (4) killing the victim in order to get money from the life insurance policy; (5) appellant's co-defendant previously pled guilty and was sentenced to life without parole; and, (6) appellant had multiple opportunities to walk away from the plan and failed to do so. (R.p.16, line 8-p.17, line 14; p.45, lines 8-24).

The plea judge accepted appellant's guilty pleas. (R.p.46, line 11). Then, contrary to appellant's assertion that the judge sentenced appellant without any explanation, the judge made clear he relied on everything before him to exercise his discretion in determining appellant's sentence. Prior to sentencing, the judge stated, "[c]onsidering everything that has been presented to me," which included the opportunity to review "the sentencing memorandum with all

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